STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 11 2016

SC Court of Appeals
RESPONDENT,

THE STATE,

V.

KADRIN RAJUN SINGLETON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000306

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing appellant's requested charge that he did not have to wait until he was attacked and allow the assailant to "get the drop" on him because appellant testified that the decedent threatened him with a gun, which appellant grabbed and used in self-defense?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in granting the State's motion pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) because the defense gave race-neutral explanations for its strikes and the State failed to prove pretext?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 4, 2013, a Charleston County grand jury indicted appellant for murder. R. 1032 - 1033. Appellant was also indicted for possession of a stolen motor vehicle, failure to stop for a blue light, and trafficking cocaine to which he pled guilty before the trial. R. v. 1, 11, ll. 5 - 24. R. v. 1, 33, l. 2 - 37, l. 22. On January 5, 2015, appellant was tried before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. R. v. 1, 1. Culver Kidd and Chris Lietzow represented the State. R. v. 1, 2. Michael T. Cooper and Megan Ehrlich represented appellant. R. v. 1, 2. The jury convicted appellant of murder. R. v. 5, 28, ll. 13 - 19. Judge Harrington sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder and concurrent terms of ten years, five years, and three years' imprisonment on the other charges. R. v. 5, 40, l. 3 - 41, l. 9. This appeal of appellant's murder conviction now follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in refusing appellant's requested charge that he did not have to wait until he was attacked and allow the assailant to "get the drop" on him because appellant testified that the decedent threatened him with a gun, which appellant grabbed and used in self-defense.

Relevant Facts

Appellant Kadrin Singleton ("Singleton") testified that he shot the decedent in self-defense. R. v. 4, 21, ll. 24 – 25. Singleton admitted he dealt marijuana. R. v. 4, 63, l. 22 -- 64, l. 3. Singleton was referred to Chris Felder ("Felder") as someone who knew where marijuana could be obtained. R. v. 4, 25, l. 21 – 26, l. 4. On the evening of the shooting, Felder told Singleton that Felder's cousin would sell him marijuana at Pizza Hut. R. v. 4, 26, ll. 2 – 18. Singleton did not know Felder's cousin. R. v. 4, 28, ll. 17 – 20. Singleton rode with Felder in Felder's car to Pizza Hut. R. v. 4, 27, ll. 18 – 25. Singleton did not take a gun. R. v. 4, 26, ll. 20 – 21.

At the Pizza Hut, Felder introduced Singleton to Kenny Fludd ("Fludd").¹ R. v. 4, 28, l. 21 – 29, l. 10. Fludd got into their car and they waited for approximately an hour when Fludd left to use the bathroom. R. v. 4, 31, l. 10 – 32, l. 2. Singleton told Felder he thought they were going to make the transaction at the Pizza Hut and was surprised when Fludd returned and told them to follow him in his car. R. v. 4, 31, l. 21 – 32, l. 12. After following Fludd for approximately five minutes, Fludd told them to park their car. R. v. 4, 32, ll. 16 – 23. Fludd told them to leave their car, and get in his car. R. v. 4, 35, ll. 16 – 22.

¹ Fludd is sometimes referred to in the transcript by his nickname, "Boss Hogg." R. v. 4, 29, ll. 6 – 9.

Singleton was reluctant. R. v. 4, 35, ll. 23 – 24. The streets were dark and unfamiliar. R. v. 4, 35, ll. 10 – 25. Fludd taunted Singleton that he was scared and eventually Singleton relented and he and Felder got into Fludd's car. R. v. 4, 36, l. 1 – 37, l. 8.

Fludd drove them two blocks to a house that was under FBI surveillance as part of a massive operation involving approximately fifty targets for drug trafficking. R. v. 4, 37, ll. 9 – 18. R. v. 2, 211, l. 11 – 212, l. 15. State's Ex. 2. A video of the outside of the house was admitted into evidence. State's Ex. 2. The decedent, Sharell Williams ("Williams"), arrived in his SUV and the four men went into the house. R. v. 4, 37, l. 15 – 38, l. 22. State's Ex. 2. Singleton had never seen Williams before this night. R. v. 5, 38, ll. 2 – 7. Williams had the key to the house and let them inside. R. v. 4, 38, ll. 12 – 20. Before they went inside, Singleton asked Felder what he had gotten him into and Felder said, "I don't know." R. v. 4, 38, ll. 12 – 20.

Once inside the house, Fludd told Williams that Singleton and Felder were afraid. R. v. 4, 38, l. 23 – 39, l. 3. Williams made a phone call to find out the location of the drugs and at the conclusion of the call, opened the refrigerator and pulled out marijuana. R. v. 4, 39, ll. 14 – 20. Williams began weighing the marijuana. R. v. 4, 40, ll. 1 – 3. Fludd went to the bathroom and when he returned, Felder went outside. R. v. 4, 40, ll. 4 – 9. Despite the fact that Felder and Singleton arrived in Fludd's car, Fludd testified that Singleton sent Felder out to get their money. R. v. 2, 92, ll. 14 – 17.

Singleton denied sending Felder outside and testified that his money was in his pocket. R. v. 4, 40, ll. 12 – 15. The FBI surveillance video shows Felder walk outside and talk on his phone in front of the house. State's Ex. 2 (29:10 to 30:01). Felder remains

outside until Singleton runs out of the house, they get into Fludd's car, and drive away. State's Ex. 2 (30:01 to 30:22).

Fludd claimed that after Felder went outside, Singleton (now alone) decided to rob him and Williams. R. v. 2, 90, l. 12 – 96, l. 23. Fludd denied having a gun when he entered the house. R. v. 2, 92, ll. 19 – 23. According to Fludd, a gun was sitting on the countertop of a bar area in the unoccupied house. R. v. 2, 92, l. 24 – 93, l. 6. Singleton supposedly told Williams to “give it up.” R. v. 2, 96, ll. 19 – 23. Fludd and Williams laughed. R. v. 2, 96, ll. 19 – 23. Singleton pulled a black pistol from behind his back and fired. R. v. 2, 96, l. 19 – 97, l. 24. Singleton demanded Fludd's car keys. R. v. 2, 98, li. 16 – 21. Singleton took the gun from the bar and the marijuana that Williams was weighing. R. v. 2, 98, ll. 16 – 99, l. 17. Fludd claimed he heard “several more gunshots” before Singleton left. R. v. 2, 99, ll. 18 – 21.

The police recovered shell casings from two different pistols. R. v. 3, 49, ll. 9 – 11. They recovered two .40 caliber shell casings and one 9mm shell casing. R. v. 3, 49, ll. 9 – 11. The police also found an empty gun holster in a back bedroom of the house. R. v. 3, 82, ll. 2 – 7. The State's pathologist admitted that it was possible that Williams' gunshot wounds came from different directions. R. v. 3, 142, ll. 10 – 13.

Singleton testified that he was forced to shoot Williams in self-defense. When Fludd returned from the bathroom, he went into the living room behind Singleton. R. v. 4, 43, ll. 14 – 22. Williams finished weighing the marijuana and Singleton paid him. R. v. 4, 44, ll. 3 – 8. Singleton asked Williams to let him see the weight of the marijuana on the scale. R. v. 4, ll. 9 – 21. The weight was twenty grams less than the negotiated amount. R. v. 4, l. 14 – 45, l. 17.

Singleton told Williams that he wanted “what I paid for.” R. v. 4, 45, ll. 18 – 20. Williams told him, “Man, you better take that and go on ahead about your business.” R. v. 4, l. 23 – 46, l. 2. Singleton again protested and Williams asked Fludd, “what’s wrong with him.” R. v. 4, 45, l. 23 – 48, l. 7. Singleton told Williams to return his money. R. v. 4, 48, ll. 10 – 14.

In response, Williams pulled a gun from his waist, set it on the bar, and told Singleton that he was “going to get what you paid for.” R. v. 4, 48, ll. 15 – 24. Singleton testified that he thought Williams would shoot him. R. v. 4, 49, ll. 2 – 12. Singleton grabbed the gun. R. v. 4, 49, ll. 15 – 21. He pointed the gun at Williams and said “Give me my money back,” while Fludd, positioned behind him, pointed a gun at Singleton and said, “Don’t do that, little bro.” R. v. 4, 50, ll. 1 – 23.

Singleton testified that he believed that if he tried to leave, he would get shot. R. v. 4, 50, l. 24 – 51, l. 10. When Singleton looked at Fludd, Williams charged. R. v. 4, 51, ll. 1 – 10. Singleton “just reacted and pulled the trigger.” R. v. 4, 52, l. 21 – 53, l. 1. Fludd fired, accidentally shooting Williams, and then Fludd’s gun jammed. R. v. 4, 54, ll. 2 – 13. R. v. 4, 68, ll. 9 – 14.

Singleton pointed the gun at Fludd and Fludd threw his gun down on a couch. R. v. 4, 54, l. 25 – 55, l. 5. Singleton told Fludd to give him his car keys so he could leave. R. v. 4, 55, ll. 6 – 14. Singleton “grabbed the weed off of the counter” and left. R. v. 4, 55, ll. 15 – 21. Singleton took nothing else from the house. R. v. 4, 55, ll. 22 – 24.

When the police arrived at the scene, they found large amounts of cocaine and marijuana in the refrigerator in the same room where the shooting occurred. R. v. 2, 222, l. 15 – 229, l. 2. There was cash throughout the house in several different locations,

including in plain view in the living room. R. v. 3, 79, ll. 16 – 24. Photographs showing the easy accessibility of these drugs and cash if Singleton had wanted to steal them were entered into evidence by the defense. Defendant's Ex. 1, 2, 3, 8, 9.

At the time of his testimony, Fludd had a pending charge for drug conspiracy related to the drugs found in the house. R. v. 2, 131, l. 18 – 131, l. 23. Fludd had not yet pled guilty to the charge. R. v. 2, 131, ll. 24 – 25. He admitted there was a possibility the solicitor would dismiss his case but claimed he had no deal with the State. R. v. 2, 134, ll. 2 – 15. Fludd told the Solicitor's office that he was afraid of Williams' cousin because he is "a scarey dude." R. v. 2, 135, l. 18 – 136, l. 7. Defense counsel also impeached Fludd's testimony with the multiple lies he told the police after the shooting, beginning with the 911 operator. R. v. 2, 154, ll. 3 – 166, l. 8. After much evasiveness, Fludd also admitted on cross-examination that he told the police there was "like a tussle" between Williams and Singleton. R. v. 2, 168, l. 22 – 169, l. 7. The defense called a witness from SLED who testified that Fludd tested positive for gunshot residue on his hands. R. v. 4, 125, ll. 9 – 19.

The trial judge agreed to charge self-defense. R. v. 4, 146, ll. 9 – 12. During the charge conference, trial counsel requested a charge that the defendant "does not have to wait until the assailant gets the drop on him." R. v. 4, 146, l. 24 – 147, l. 21. The trial judge stated she was not aware of any such charge. R. v. 4, 147, ll. 6 – 21. Judge Harrington told appellant, "I am not charging the wait until you get the drop on." R. v. 4, 152, ll. 17 – 20.

Defense counsel also submitted written charges. R. v. 4, 152, ll. 3 – 20. Court's Exhibit 1 from v. 6 of trial transcript (Defendant's Requests to Charge). Defendant's third Request to Charge read:

In this case, Kadrin Singleton has offered evidence that he believed he was in imminent danger of death or of receiving serious bodily harm. If

Kadrin Singleton's belief was reasonable, he does not have to wait until he is actually attacked or injured or until force is used by the aggressor before he exercises his right to use deadly force in self-defense.

In other words, Kadrin Singleton does not have to wait until the assailant "gets the drop on him" in order to be entitled to use force in self-defense.

See F. PATRICK HUBBARD, JURY INSTRUCTION FOR CRIMINAL CASES IN SOUTH CAROLINA: DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS 265-298 (2d ed. 2001).

Court's Exhibit 1 from v. 6 of trial transcript (Defendant's Requests to Charge). While the trial judge charged the jury that the defendant has the right to act on appearances, she did not give the defendant's requested charge. R. v. 5, 18, ll. 2 -- 13.

Discussion

The court erred in refusing appellant's requested charge because a trial judge has a duty to craft her self-defense charge to fit the facts of the case. State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011); State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 444-45, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989). As recognized in Fuller, there is a "body of common law self-defense" and trial judges must "consider the facts and circumstances of the case at bar in order to fashion an appropriate charge." Fuller at 443, 377 S.E.2d at 330.

A deep understanding of Fuller demonstrates the court's error. In Fuller, the defendant was black. Id. at 441, 377 S.E.2d at 329. He solicited a white prostitute. Id. The prostitute took him to her trailer for sex, but the trailer was occupied and the defendant left. Id.

The defendant later returned to the prostitute's trailer and a car driven by a white woman was blocking the road. Id. The defendant asked her to move her car. Id. At this point, two men approached the defendant's car and asked him "what he was 'trying to do to

that white lady.” Id. One of the men used a racial slur and grabbed the defendant by the throat. Id. at 441, 377 S.E.2d at 329-30.

The defendant fired a warning shot which temporarily allowed him to drive away, but the street was a dead end. Id. at 442, 377 S.E.2d at 330. The two assailants tried to block the defendant’s car from leaving and the defendant ultimately crashed and pinned his car against a steel rail. Id. The two men yelled, “we’re going to take care of you.” Id. The defendant thought he saw something shiny in one of the men’s hands and fired four shots at them, killing them both. Id. No gun was found on the assailants. Id.

Relying on State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 (1984), the trial judge in Fuller only instructed the jury on the basic elements of self-defense. Id. Fuller held it was error to only give the general charge from Davis when the defendant “repeatedly requested additional charges.” Id. at 443, 377 S.E.2d at 330. The trial judge erred by not giving three specific charges on self-defense that explained the principles in the general charge.

In this case, appellant’s request was a correct statement of the law of self-defense that has been in existence since at least 1936. State v. Rash, 182 S.C. 42, 50, 188 S.E. 435, 438 (1936). In State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 117, 481 S.E.2d 118, 121 (1997), the Supreme Court cited Rash in reversing a conviction for the trial judge’s failure to give a charge that “a person does not have to wait before acting in self-defense.” In State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 322, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000), the Supreme Court reversed a capital conviction, in part, because of the failure to give the Rash charge. The Court stated, “Appellant did not have to wait for Welborn or Champlin to fire or aim at him before acting in self-defense. Accordingly, appellant was entitled to a charge instructing the jury he did

not have to wait before acting in self-defense.” Starnes at 322, 531 S.E.2d at 913. “Refusal to charge this request was reversible error.” Id.

Appellant’s request was manifestly necessary in this case. Singleton testified that when Williams placed the gun on the bar, he was afraid for his life and grabbed the gun. R. v. 4, 49, ll. 2 – 21. In a classic Mexican Standoff, Fludd simultaneously pointed a gun at Singleton.² R. v. 4, 50, ll. 1 – 23. Singleton testified he was afraid that if he turned to leave, he would be shot. R. v. 4, 50, l. 24 – 51, l. 10.

The Rash charge exists for just this circumstance. It would have made a difference on multiple elements of self-defense. It would have justified appellant’s initial grab of the gun instead of leaving. It would have justified appellant pointing the gun at Williams. It also would have justified shooting Williams. This case amounted to a credibility contest between Fludd and Singleton and appellant had a right to a properly constructed self-defense charge under Fuller. The failure to give this charge was reversible error.

2.

The trial court erred in granting the State’s motion pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) because the defense gave race-neutral explanations for its strikes and the State failed to prove pretext.

Following jury selection, the State challenged appellant’s strikes pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). R. v. 1, 87, li. 1 – 12. The State argued that appellant’s

² A “Mexican Standoff” is a “confrontation among two or more parties in which no participant can proceed or retreat without being exposed to danger.” https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mexican_standoff. As noted in the Wikipedia article, a famous example from cinema is the end of Sergio Leone’s famous Spaghetti Western, *The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly*, in which Clint Eastwood, Lee Van Cleef, and Eli Wallach face down each other in a cemetery over buried gold.

use of all of its strikes against whites violated Batson. R. v. 1, 87, ll. 5 – 21. The trial judge required appellant to provide explanations for all of his strikes. R. v. 1, 87, l. 22 – 88, l. 6.

Appellant gave the following reasons for his strikes:

1. Juror 193, white male: military ties and asked to be excused during qualification;
2. Juror 210, white male: military ties, retired colonel;
3. Juror 213, white female: asked to be excused during qualifications and was “cavalier, didn’t seem to be taking anything real seriously;”
4. Juror 344, white female: would not make eye contact with defense and seemed disinterested;
5. Juror 21, white female: had ties to a crime victim;
6. Juror 312, white male: occupation as a real estate appraiser and “wouldn’t be able to relate at all to the poverty of this case, when dealing with corporate real estate appraising;”

R. v. 1, 88, l. 7 – 90, l. 1.

At this point, Judge Harrington interrupted trial counsel and asked him why he struck people in the military. R. v. 1, 290, ll. 2 – 7. Trial counsel explained that people in the military were associated with “state institutions, institutions of power and authority, which is similar to law enforcement, similar to the State.” R. v. 1, 90, ll. 8 – 11. The trial judge responded, “Mr. Cooper, then you strike some people because they have too much knowledge and some people because they don’t have any?” R. v. 1, 90, ll. 12 – 14. Trial counsel explained that the circumstances are different in that a person’s affluence was different than being connected to the military. R. v. 1, 90, ll. 15 – 17. The trial judge then

asked, “So you’re saying he is too well-paid to be on the jury?” R. v. 1, 90, ll. 20 – 21.

Appellant then continued with his explanations for his strikes:

7. Juror 369, white female: prior victim involvement and a husband who was an attorney in North Charleston;
8. Juror 261, white female: prior jury service in a murder case;
9. Juror 127, white female: when asked about prior jury service, did not specify whether it was civil or criminal;
10. Juror 97, white female: her uncle was murdered;
11. Juror 191, white male: prior jury service on an armed robbery case;
12. Juror 353, white female: employed by the Department of the State and a connection to a government entity;
13. Juror 188, white female: Singleton did not like the way she looked at him and expressed his concerns to counsel.

R. v. 1, 90, l. 25 – 93, l. 10.

The State first argued that appellant’s strikes were pretextual because he seated some jurors who had prior jury service. R. v. 1, 93, ll. 14 – 17. The State pointed to Jurors 333 and 321. R. v. 1, 93, ll. 20 – 25. Appellant explained that Juror 333’s jury service was

in small claims court and was “not connected to a criminal matter at all.” R. v. 1, 94, ll. 5 –

7. The State then pointed out that Juror 321 was a black female and sat as a juror on an assault case and was employed by the Department of the Navy. R. v. 1, 94, ll. 17 – 25. The State also pointed to Juror 154 who worked for the Department of Social Services as a person with a connection to the government that was seated by the defense. R. v. 1, 95, ll. 4

– 16. The trial judge indicated that she was concerned that similarly situated jurors were not struck and then took a recess. R. v. 1, 96, l. 4 – 97, l. 15.

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