**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000306

---

RECEIVED

AUG 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

V.

KADRIN RAJUN SINGLETON,

Appellant,

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON**  
Attorney General

**JOHN W. MCINTOSH**  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

**DONALD J. ZELENKA**  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

**J. ANTHONY MABRY**  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305

**SCARLETT A. WILSON**  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit  
101 Meeting Street

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

## ARGUMENT I

### Judge Harrington properly refused Singleton's requested jury charge.

#### *The Issue*

On appeal, Singleton argues Judge Harrington erred in refusing his requested charge that he did not have to wait until he was attacked and allow the assailant to "get the drop" on him. Singleton is wrong.

#### *What Occurred Below*

During the trial, Singleton no longer claimed alibi as his defense but self-defense. Singleton testified that he fired on Williams after Williams "rushed him." (R. 774, l. 4 – R. 775, l. 1). Singleton testified that prior to Williams rushing him, Williams tried to give him less marijuana than what was bargained for, and as a result of Williams' miserliness the situation began to get heated. (R. 767, ll. 3-4). Singleton testified that after he [Singleton] demanded his money back, Williams pulled out a gun and set it on the counter next to him. (R. 770, ll. 11-20). Singleton claimed that he quickly grabbed the gun on the counter at which point he looked at Kenny who had a gun pointed at him. (R. 771, ll. 16-17). Singleton testified that when he glanced back at Williams, he [Williams] rushed him [Singleton], and Singleton just reacted by pulling the trigger. (R. 774, ll. 4-6). He did not admit to firing any other shots.

Based on these statements, Singleton requested the trial judge charge self-defense. Judge Harrington agreed and composed an appropriate self-defense charge for the jury. However, Singleton requested that the trial judge use the following specific language:

In this case, Kadrin Singleton has offered evidence that he believed he was in imminent danger of death or of receiving serious bodily harm. If Kadrin Singleton's belief was reasonable, he does not have to wait until he is actually attacked or injured or until force is used by the aggressor before he exercises his right to use deadly force in self-defense. In other words, Kadrin Singleton does not have to wait until the assailant "**gets the drop on him**" in order to be entitled

to use force in self-defense.

(Court's Ex. 1, R. (Defendant's Requests to Charge)(emphasis added)). The trial judge refused [R. 874, ll. 17-20] charging instead that:

The defendant does not have to show that he was actually in danger . . . The defendant has the **right to act on appearances**, even though the defendant's belief may have been mistaken. It is for you to determine whether the defendant's fear of imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury was reasonable and would have been felt by an ordinary person in the same situation. Words accompanied by hostile acts may, depending on the circumstances, establish self-defense.

(R. 945, ll. 2-13). Singleton now alleges Judge Harrington committed reversible error by not charging the specific “gets the drop on him” language. This contention is without merit. State v. Harris, 382 S.C. 107, 113, 674 S.E.2d 532, 535 (Ct. App. 2009).

#### *Judge Harrington's Charge Was Sufficient*

When read as a whole, Judge Harrington's charge to the jury was sufficient as given as it adequately covered the issues raised by the evidence. (R. 935-48).

“The law to be charged to the jury must be determined by the evidence presented at trial.” Harris, 382 S.C. at 113, 674 S.E.2d at 535; *citing* State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 231-32, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245-46 (Ct. App. 2006). Generally, a trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. *Id.*; State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 119, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006); Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472-73 (2004); State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 261-62, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004).

A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole. Harris, at 113, 674 S.E.2d at 535; Rayfield, 369 S.C. at 1119, 631 S.E.2d at 251; Sheppard, at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 473; State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463

(Ct. App. 2003); *see also* State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 651 S.E.2d 321 (2007) (“A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.”); *citing* State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 263, 565 S.E.2d 298, 304 (2002).

A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 412, 605 S.E.2d 540, 542 (2004); State v. Burris, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999); State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 539 S.E.2d 71, 74 (2000). On review of a jury charge, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole in view of the evidence and issues presented at trial. Harris, *supra*; Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C. 279, 311, 536 S.E.2d 408, 425 (Ct. App. 2000). “We have often held that the charge of the judge must be considered in its entirety.” State v. Chaffee, 285 S.C. 21, 328 S.E.2d 464 (1984), *citing* State v. Vaughn, 268 S.C. 119, 232 S.E.2d 328 (1977); *see also* State v. Marin, 404 S.C. 615, 620, 745 S.E.2d 148, 151 (Ct. App. 2013) (“[A]n appellate court must consider the charge as a whole in evaluating whether the trial court charged the correct law applicable to the case.”) *citing* State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011); Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 438 (2011), *affirmed as modified* State v. Marin, Shearhouse Advance Sheets, Opinion No. 27613 (Filed March 23, 2016).

A charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996); State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994). To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. Harris, *supra*; State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 529 S.E.2d 721 (2000); Adkins, *supra*.

In charging self-defense, the trial judge must consider the facts and circumstances of the

case and fashion an appropriate charge. Harris, supra; citing State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000); *see also* State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328, 330 (1989) (holding common-law instruction on self-defense in State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 (1984) was not intended to be exclusive charge for self-defense). However, **the substance of the law** is what must be charged, **not any particular verbiage**. Brandt, at 549, 713 S.E.2d at 603; State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010); State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994); Davis, supra; Marin, at 620, 745 S.E.2d at 151; Harris, supra; Burkhart, supra.

The failure to provide specific jury instructions is not reversible error if the general instructions are sufficiently broad to enable the jury to understand the law and the issues involved. Hughey, supra; citing Cohens v. Atkins, 333 S.C. 345, 509 S.E.2d 286, 289 (Ct. App. 1998). The failure to provide specific jury instructions is not error when the given instructions use the proper test for determining the issues before the jury. Harris, supra; Hughey, supra; citing Miller v. City of West Columbia, 322 S.C. 224, 471 S.E.2d 683 (1996); *see also* State v. Barwick, 280 S.C. 45, 310 S.E.2d 428 (1983). A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. Harris, supra; State v. Cherry, 348 S.C. 281, 559 S.E.2d 297 (2002). “Therefore, there is no error of law in refusing to give a specific request to charge where . . . the trial court used language different from that requested, but considering the charge as a whole, the charge as given stated the requested principle of law correctly.” Marin, at 620, 745 S.E.2d at 151.

The resolution of this appellate issue is controlled by State v. Harris, 382 S.C. 107, 674 S.E.2d 532 (Ct. App. 2009). In Harris, this Court held the trial court’s refusal to use the language “[gets] the drop on him’ did not render the charge improper.” Harris, at 115, 674

S.E.2d at 536. The defendant in Harris claimed that as the victim was coming down the stairs of his ex-girlfriend's house to talk to the defendant, he saw something “flicker from the back where [victim] had his hand,” and [victim] lunged at him as [victim] made his way down the stairs.” Id., at 112, 674 S.E.2d at 535. At trial, the defendant claimed self-defense and requested that the trial judge charge:

If a defendant is in imminent danger or if defendant's belief that he is in imminent danger of death or receiving bodily harm is reasonable, he need not wait until actual attack or injury or until force is used by the aggressor before exercising the right to use deadly force in self-defense. In other words, defendant need not wait until the assailant “**gets the drop on him**” in order to be entitled to use force in self-defense.

Id., at 114, 674 S.E.2d at 536 (emphasis added). The trial judge refused to charge the “gets the drop on him” language. Id. Instead, the trial court charged:

You may consider the deceased's conduct[,] actions and general demeanor immediately before the incident as bearing on the deceased's temper and state of mind at the time of the fatal encounter[,] and **the defendant does not have to show that he was actually in danger.** It is enough if the defendant believed he was in imminent danger and a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have had the same belief. **The defendant has the right to act on appearances even though the defendant's beliefs may have been mistaken.**

Id., at 115, 674 S.E.2d at 536 (emphasis in original).

On appeal, Harris argued the trial judge's refusal to charge “gets the drop on him” constituted reversible error. This Court noted the first use of this language in State v. Rash, 182 S.C. 42, 50, 188 S.E. 435, 438 (1936) (“[The defendant] doesn't have to wait until his assailant gets the drop on him, he has a right to act under the law of self-preservation and prevent his assailant getting the drop on him; if it is apparent, or reasonably apparent his assailant is taking steps to get the drop on him, he must take steps first to prevent such assailant from getting the drop on him.”), and its later interpretation in State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 117-18, 481 S.E.2d 118, 121-22 (1997) and State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 340, 322, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000)—

finding that it means “a defendant does not have to wait until actually fired upon to use force to defend his life.” Id., at 114, 674 S.E.2d at 536.

This Court, in affirming Harris’ conviction, held “[t]he trial court’s instructions made it clear that Harris did not have to wait until he was actually under attack in order to employ force to defend his life.” Id., at 115, 674 S.E.2d at 536. This Court made special note the trial court informed the jury that Harris had a right to *act on appearances*, even if those appearances were later found to be incorrect. Id. Essentially, this Court found the trial court’s charge adequately covered the essence of the appellant’s requested “get the drop on him” charge—noting that it is “[t]he substance of the law [that] must be charged to the jury, not particular verbiage.” Id.; Burkhart, at 261, 565 S.E.2d at 303; *see also*, Brandt, at 549, 713 S.E.2d at 603; Mattison, at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 583; Smith, *supra*; Davis, *supra*; Marin, at 620, 745 S.E.2d at 151.

The facts of Harris are completely analogous to the present case. Like the appellant in Harris, Singleton here argues it was error for the trial court to refuse his requested “gets the drop on him” language. Also, like the trial judge in Harris, the trial judge here [Judge Harrington] properly instructed the jury on Singleton’s right to act on appearances (**Compare:** the Harris instruction—“The defendant does not have to show that he was actually in danger . . . The defendant has the right to act on appearances even though the defendant's beliefs may have been mistaken,” and the present instruction—“The defendant does not have to show that he was actually in danger . . . The defendant has the right to act on appearances, even though the defendant's belief may have been mistaken.”). Harris, at 115, 674 S.E.2d at 536; (R. 945, ll. 2–8).

Like the instruction in Harris, Judge Harrington’s charge made it clear that Singleton “did not have to wait until he was actually under attack in order to employ force to defend his life.” Harris, at 115, 674 S.E.2d at 536. (R. 943-46). Also alike is the fact that both trial judges

“informed the jury that [the appellant] had a right to act on appearances.” Id. (R. 943-46). Therefore, just as in Harris, “[t]he simple fact that the trial court refused to use the ‘[gets] the drop on him’ language does not render the charge improper.” Id.; *see also* Marin, at 625, 745 S.E.2d at 153 (affirming trial court’s charge “because the trial court here covered in its charge the substantive principle of law [Appellant] requested.”). (R. 935-48). Singleton fails to mention State v. Harris anywhere in his brief.

An ancillary point, which further justifies Judge Harrington’s refusal to charge “gets the drop on him,” is that the whole notion that Singleton had the right to defend himself before actually being attacked runs counter to Singleton’s stated theory of the case. As counsel for Singleton makes clear in his brief, with confirmation from the trial transcript, and according to the sworn testimony of Singleton himself, Singleton *did not* fire upon the victim *before* being attacked—rather, Singleton testified that victim “rushed [him]” before he “just reacted and pulled the trigger.” (IBOA, p. 6; R. 774, l. 4 – R. 775, l. 1). This testimony completely undermines the need for a self-defense charge containing the language “gets the drop on him” since Singleton himself argues he was actually under attack at the time he fired. With this context in mind, the addition by Judge Harrington of the “gets the drop on him” language to her self-defense charge would have been superfluous at best (considering the fact that she sufficiently charged the jury with Singleton’s “right to act on appearances”) and confusing and contradictory to Singleton’s *stated* defense at worst.

Therefore, based on the great weight of the relevant case law, as well as Singleton’s own assertions, Judge Harrington’s ruling to exclude Singleton’s requested “gets the drop on him” language in her self-defense charge to the jury was clearly not erroneous and Singleton’s conviction should be affirmed. Harris; Marin.

## ARGUMENT II

**Judge Harrington properly granted the State's Batson motion, and Singleton cannot show prejudice.**

### *The Issue*

On appeal, Singleton argues Judge Harrington erred in granting the State's motion pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), because he *alleges* he gave race-neutral explanations for his strikes and the State failed to prove pretext. Singleton is wrong.

### *What Occurred Below*

During the first (1<sup>st</sup>) jury strike, Singleton proceeded to strike thirteen (13) white venire members—constituting all of Singleton's strikes. (R. 66, l. 1 – R. 85, l. 25). The State made a Batson challenge to Singleton's strikes. (R. 87, l. 1 – R. 101, l. 5). The State argued based on the totality of the strikes, all made against white jurors, a *prima facie* showing of racial discrimination had been shown. (R. 87, ll. 6-21). Judge Harrington agreed and instructed defense counsel to go down the list of its strikes, stating the reason for each of them. (R. 87, l. 25 – R. 88, l. 5).

Defense counsel explained that it struck:

- Juror number 193, white male, for military service in the Air Force Reserve as well for requesting to be excused
- Juror number 210, white male, for being a retired Army Colonel
- Juror number 213, white female, for requesting to be excused and for acting “cavalier”
- Juror number 344, white female, for not making eye contact with the defense and seeming disinterested
- Juror number 21, white female, for having ties to a victim of a robbery
- Juror number 312, white male, for being a real estate appraiser who wouldn't be able to relate to the “poverty of this case”

(R. 88, l. 7 – R. 90, l. 1). Judge Harrington then interrupted to ask defense counsel why it struck those with military ties. (R. 90, ll. 2-7). Defense counsel responded that it was because of their

association with State institutions. (R. 90, ll. 8-11). Defense counsel then stated that he struck Juror number 312 because his level of affluence would affect his ability to connect with the facts of this case. (R. 90, ll. 22-24). Defense counsel then explained that it struck:

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